



# Swine Variant Influenza Tool Kit

MICHIGAN DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN **SERVICES** 









VERSION 2.1

# Contents

Swine Variant Influenza Background <u>1</u>
Swine Variant Influenza Cases in Michigan, 2013-20182
Swine Variant Influenza Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) for the Public
Swine Variant Influenza FAQs for Healthcare and Public Health Providers5
Planning for the Upcoming Fair Season <u>8</u>
Local Health Department Planning/Pre-Event Check-list
Swine Variant Influenza Guidance
Healthcare and Public Health Providers <u>12</u>
Influenza Case Identification, Testing, and Treatment
How to Report Suspect Swine Variant Influenza Cases
Action Steps for Positive Pig <u>14</u>
Action Steps for Positive or Presumptive Positive Human
Key Facts for People Exhibiting Pigs at Fairs <u>19</u>

# Swine Variant Influenza Background

Swine influenza (swine flu) is a respiratory disease of pigs caused by type A influenza viruses. It is common for these viruses to cause outbreaks of influenza in pigs, resulting in high levels of illness in swine herds and, in some cases, swine death.

In addition to illness in pigs, it is possible for these viruses to sporadically cause illness in humans. When an influenza virus that normally circulates in pigs (but not people) is detected in a human, it is called a "variant influenza virus." Variant viruses are named by their subtype, followed by the letter "v", for example H3N2v. In most cases, swine variant influenza infections occur after people have been exposed to infected pigs. Examples of situations in which humans may be exposed to infected pigs include, but are not limited to, people exhibiting or visiting pigs at a fair or workers raising pigs on a farm.

Typically, these influenza viruses are transmitted from pigs to people as well as from people to pigs; however, there have been previous instances of human-to-human swine variant influenza transmission. Also, because of differences between the influenza viruses that infect pigs and the influenza viruses that infect humans, the seasonal influenza vaccine does not protect people from swine variant influenza infections.



## Swine Variant Influenza Cases in Michigan, 2013-2018

From 2013 to 2018, 19 humans have tested positive for swine variant influenza in Michigan. Counties reporting human cases of swine variant influenza include Allegan (2), Berrien (2), Cass (1), Ingham (9), Jackson (1), Livingston (2), and Muskegon (2). All of these cases either worked with pigs or visited fairs where pigs were exhibited. The human cases vary in symptom severity and type of variant influenza A, including H3N2v and H1N2v. Additionally, at least 6 of the counties reporting human cases also had sick pigs in exhibits at agricultural fairs that tested positive for swine influenza with strains that matched those of the human cases.



# Swine Variant Influenza Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) for the Public

#### What are the signs of influenza in pigs?

In pigs, signs of influenza infection include fever, depression, coughing (barking), discharge from the nose or eyes, sneezing, difficulty breathing, eye redness or inflammation, not eating. However, it is possible for pigs to be infected with influenza and show no signs of illness.

#### Can people be infected with swine influenza viruses?

Yes. Swine influenza viruses do not normally infect people; however, human infections have occurred. When a swine influenza virus infects a person, it is called a "variant virus". Most often, human infections with variant viruses have occurred in people exposed to infected pigs. There have also been instances of multiple human illnesses associated with exposure to one or more sick pigs (commonly known as an "outbreak"). There has also been limited person-to-person spread of variant viruses.

#### What symptoms do people have when they are infected with variant influenza?

In humans, symptoms of swine variant influenza infection are often identical to symptoms of seasonal influenza infections and can include fever, cough, sore throat, a runny or congested nose, headache, body aches, and fatigue. In some cases, additional symptoms like vomiting, diarrhea, and pink eye have been reported.

#### Can I get swine variant influenza from eating pork or pork products?

No. Swine variant influenza has not been shown to be transmissible to people through eating properly cooked pork, pork products, or any other product derived from pigs. For information on how to properly handle and cook pork, please visit:

https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/food-safety-education/get-answers/food-safety-fact-sheets/meat-preparation/fresh-pork-from-farm-to-table/CT\_Index

#### Why are human infections with variant viruses a concern?

Influenza viruses that infect pigs are different from human influenza viruses, but pigs are susceptible to human influenza viruses and can also be infected with influenza viruses that commonly infect birds. It is possible for pigs to be infected with more than one type of influenza virus at the same time. When that happens, the genes from the different influenza viruses can mix together, creating a new influenza virus. If this new virus is capable of easily infecting people or can be easily spread person-to-person, an influenza pandemic (world-wide outbreak) can occur. This last happened in 2009, when influenza A H1N1 emerged. This virus strain contained genes from swine, birds, and humans, and it was responsible for the first pandemic in 40 years. Additionally, since 2009, it has become established in the human population and is part of the current seasonal influenza vaccine.

#### What can I do to protect myself from swine variant influenza?

People at high risk for serious influenza complications should avoid pigs and swine barns at fairs. Do not take food or drink into pig areas and do not eat, drink, or put anything in your mouth in pig areas. Do not take toys, pacifiers, cups, baby bottles, strollers, or similar items into pig areas. Avoid close contact with pigs that look or act ill. Wash your hands with soap and water or alcohol-based hand rub when soap and water are not available, before and after being around pigs or their environment. If you must work around sick pigs, use appropriate personal protective equipment, such as gloves and a face mask or respirator.

# If I received a seasonal influenza vaccine, can I still become infected with swine variant influenza?

Yes, even if a person has received a seasonal influenza vaccine, it is possible for them to become infected with a swine variant influenza virus. The influenza viruses that infect pigs are different from the influenza viruses that commonly infect humans each influenza season.

#### I attended a fair where there were pigs. Should I be concerned?

If you recently attended a fair where there were suspected or known influenza positive pigs, and you are **experiencing respiratory symptoms**, please seek medical care. Tell your doctor you attended an event with swine. It is important for your doctor to test you for influenza, as testing can inform treatment options. Antiviral medications may be prescribed in order to help prevent serious complications that can sometimes occur from infection with influenza.

If you recently attended a fair where there were suspected or known influenza positive pigs, and you are **not currently experiencing respiratory symptoms**, talk to your health department and monitor your health for 10 days after your last exposure to swine. It can take up to 10 days for symptoms to appear. If symptoms do appear, please seek medical care and tell you doctor you have had contact with swine.

#### Are there medications available to help treat swine variant influenza infections in humans?

Yes, the antiviral medications commonly prescribed to treat seasonal influenza infections can also treat swine variant influenza infections. Currently, there are four different antiviral drugs that are recommended for use in the United States: oseltamivir, peramivir, zanamivir, and baloxavir.

# Swine Variant Influenza Frequently Asked Questions (FAQs) for Healthcare and Public Health Providers

#### What are the signs of influenza in pigs?

In pigs, signs of influenza infection include fever, depression, coughing (barking), discharge from the nose or eyes, sneezing, difficulty breathing, eye redness or inflammation, not eating. However, it is possible for pigs to be infected with influenza and show no signs of illness.

#### Can people be infected with swine influenza viruses?

Yes. Swine influenza viruses do not normally infect people; however, human infections have occurred. When a swine influenza virus infects a person, it is called a "variant virus". Most often, human infections with variant viruses have occurred in people exposed to infected pigs. There have also been instances of multiple human illnesses associated with exposure to one or more sick pigs (commonly known as an "outbreak"). There has also been limited person-to-person spread of variant viruses.

#### What symptoms do people have when they are infected with variant influenza?

In humans, symptoms of swine variant influenza infection are often identical to symptoms of seasonal influenza infections and can include fever, cough, sore throat, a runny or congested nose, headache, body aches, and fatigue. In some cases, additional symptoms like vomiting, diarrhea, and pink eye have been reported.

#### Can people get swine variant influenza from eating pork or pork products?

No. Swine variant influenza has not been shown to be transmissible to people through eating properly cooked pork, pork products, or any other product derived from pigs. For information on how to properly handle and cook pork, please visit:

https://www.fsis.usda.gov/wps/portal/fsis/topics/food-safety-education/get-answers/food-safety-fact-sheets/meat-preparation/fresh-pork-from-farm-to-table/CT\_Index

#### Why are human infections with variant viruses a concern?

Influenza viruses that infect pigs are different from human influenza viruses, but pigs are susceptible to human influenza viruses and can also be infected with influenza viruses that commonly infect birds. It is possible for pigs to be infected with more than one type of influenza virus at the same time. When that happens, the genes from the different influenza viruses can mix together, creating a new influenza virus. If this new virus is capable of easily infecting people or can be easily spread person-to-person, an influenza pandemic (world-wide outbreak) can occur. This last happened in 2009, when influenza A H1N1 emerged. This virus strain contained genes from swine, birds, and humans, and it was responsible for the first pandemic in 40 years. Additionally, since 2009, it has become established in the human population and is part of the current seasonal influenza vaccine.

#### If a person attended a fair where there were pigs, should they be concerned?

If a person recently attended a fair where there were suspected or known influenza positive pigs, and they are **experiencing respiratory symptoms**, they should seek medical care. They should tell their doctor they have had contact with swine. It is important to test ill and exposed people for influenza, as testing can inform treatment options. Antiviral medications may be prescribed in order to help prevent serious complications that can sometimes occur from infection with influenza.

If a person recently attended a fair where there were suspected or known influenza positive pigs, and they are **not currently experiencing respiratory symptoms**, they should continue to monitor their health for 10 days after their last exposure to swine. It can take up to 10 days for symptoms to appear. If symptoms do appear, they should seek medical care and tell their doctor they have had contact with swine.

#### Who should be tested for variant influenza?

It is important that respiratory specimens be collected from: 1) anyone with signs of influenza who has been exposed to sick pigs suspected of being infected with influenza, 2) anyone with signs of influenza who has been exposed to an influenza positive pig, 3) anyone exhibiting symptoms of influenza, during the warm weather months when human seasonal influenza is not usually circulating. When variant influenza is suspected (ill person exposed to sick pigs or ill during the summer months) it is important that healthcare providers send respiratory specimens to the MDHHS BOL for influenza testing, as most commonly available rapid tests cannot detect variant influenza and may provide a false negative result. In addition to facilitating specimen collection, it is important for local health departments to perform contact tracing (identify other potentially exposed people) and to follow-up with **all ill persons** to make sure they are tested and treated if needed.

#### How can a person be tested?

For local health departments, there are several options for obtaining respiratory specimens from ill individuals for testing: 1) The local health department can directly obtain the respiratory specimen and send it to MDHHS BOL for influenza testing. 2) The local health department can refer the individual to their primary care provider, urgent care, or the emergency department at a local hospital to have a respiratory specimen collected and sent to MDHHS BOL for influenza testing. 3) The local health department can set up a standing order for respiratory specimen collection with a local laboratory to obtain and submit specimens to MDHHS BOL for influenza testing. A specimen submission protocol should be included in the Standing Order.

#### How can a person protect themselves from swine variant influenza?

People at high risk for serious influenza complications should avoid pigs and swine barns at fairs. Do not take food or drink into pig areas and do not eat, drink, or put anything in your mouth in pig areas. Do not take toys, pacifiers, cups, baby bottles, strollers, or similar items into pig areas. Avoid close contact with pigs that look or act ill. Wash your hands with soap and water or alcohol-based hand rub when soap and water are not available, before and after being around pigs or their environment. If you must work around sick pigs, use appropriate personal protective equipment, such as gloves and a face mask or respirator.

# If a person received a seasonal influenza vaccine, can they still become infected with swine variant influenza?

Yes, even if a person has received a seasonal influenza vaccine, it is possible for them to become infected with a swine variant influenza virus. The influenza viruses that infect pigs are different from the influenza viruses that commonly infect humans each influenza season.

#### Are there medications available to help treat swine variant influenza infections in humans?

Yes, the antiviral medications commonly prescribed to treat seasonal influenza infections can also treat swine variant influenza infections. Currently, there are four different antiviral drugs that are recommended for use in the United States: oseltamivir, peramivir, zanamivir, and baloxavir.

# Planning for the Upcoming Fair Season



## Local Health Department Planning/Pre-Event Check-list

- Get the know the appropriate contacts at your fair (name, phone, email):
  - 1. Fair Manager:
  - 2. Fair Veterinarian:
  - 3. Swine Superintendent:
  - 4. MSU Extension 4-H Leader:
  - 5. Other:
  - 6. Other:
- Provide LHD contact information to fair managers with instructions to <u>immediately</u> <u>report</u> to the health department suspected influenza illness (human and/or pigs)
- Volunteer to be involved in the fair planning process:
  <u>http://msue.anr.msu.edu/resources/fair and exhibition animal health planning guide</u>
- □ Consider having a health department booth at the fair.
- Provide a copy of the CDC "Key Facts for People Exhibiting Pigs at Fairs" to the 4-H Coordinator and the Swine Barn Superintendent. (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/fair\_exhibitor\_factsheet.pdf</u>)
- □ Prepare local health department-specific Variant Influenza Fact Sheet, draft press release, draft notification letters (See "Swine Variant Influenza Tool Kit Templates")
- □ Create Template Swine Exhibitor Survey tool in Survey Monkey or other survey application (See "Swine Variant Influenza Tool Kit Templates")
- □ Be prepared to collect respiratory specimens from exposed symptomatic exhibitors and other ill persons potentially exposed to swine.
  - 1. For specimens to be collected by the local health department:
    - Order Unit #45 Viral Isolation/PCR collection and shipping kits to have on hand (<u>www.michigan.gov/mdhhslab</u>, Specimen Submission, Clinical Specimen Collection Units, DCH-0568)
  - 2. For specimens to be collected by a local laboratory
    - Establish Medical Director Standing Order for respiratory specimen collection of suspect patients at local laboratory

- Instruct to collect up to two specimens, one for PCR-based commercial test, if desired, and one for PCR-based MDHHS BOL assay. (Commercial PCR assays may not detect swine viruses in human respiratory specimens.)
- Provide laboratory with MDHHS BOL Unit #45 Viral Isolation/PCR collection and shipping kits to have on hand
- 3. For patients referred to local HCP/Urgent Care/Emergency Department
  - Prepare specimen collection instructions to provide to designated facility (See "Variant (Swine) Influenza Guidance for Healthcare and Public Health Providers" information sheet and "Template Swine Influenza Letter to Healthcare Providers")
  - Provide HCP/facility with MDHHS BOL Unit #45 Viral Isolation/PCR collection and shipping kits
- Pre-identify shipping services to expedite specimen delivery to MDHHS BOL (i.e., same day or overnight delivery); visit <u>www.michigan.gov/mdhhslab</u>, Specimen Submission, Specimen Submission Guidelines.
- □ Review Variant Influenza Tracking Tool in the Outbreak Management System (OMS).
  - This tracking tool has been created as a questionnaire in the OMS, a module within MDSS to manage outbreaks and share data in real-time between Local Health Departments and MDHHS. The OMS may be accessed via MDSS by clicking on the OMS link on the top right. If you do not have access, please contact your Regional Epidemiologist. The OMS user guide is available at: <a href="https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mdhhs/OMS\_Final\_User\_Guide\_613196\_7.pdf">https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mdhhs/OMS\_Final\_User\_Guide\_613196\_7.pdf</a>
  - □ Preview Questions
    - 1. How many individuals have responded to the survey?
    - 2. How many individuals have reported influenza-like symptoms?
    - 3. For the ill individuals, have you conducted contact tracing (Y/N)?
    - 4. How many survey respondents were individually contacted because of reported illness?
    - 5. How many total ills have been reported?
    - 6. How many new ills have been reported?
    - 7. How many total specimens have been collected?
    - 8. How many new specimens have been collected?
    - 9. What is the estimated symptom onset date range?
    - 10. Are there any additional updates you would like to report?

# Swine Variant Influenza Guidance



# Healthcare and Public Health Providers

## Variant (Swine) Influenza Guidance for Healthcare and Public Health Providers Michigan Department of Health and Human Services

During recent summers, swine exhibitions at agricultural fairs have been associated with human infections caused by swine variant influenza A viruses, such as H3N2v, H1N2v and H1N1v. In total, 19 cases of swine variant influenza have occurred in Michigan from 2013 to 2018. See the map on Page 2 for more information. Healthcare providers and public health professionals should consider variant influenza infection when evaluating persons with influenza-like illness (ILI) or investigating positive influenza results during the summer fair season. This guidance outlines the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services recommendations on variant influenza surveillance, reporting and testing for healthcare providers, laboratories, and local health departments.

## Influenza Case Identification, Testing, and Treatment

1. Clinicians treating patients with an influenza-like illness (fever >100°F plus a cough and/or a sore throat) should ask about recent exposure to swine or attendance at agricultural fairs. Clinical characteristics of variant influenza infection are similar to signs and symptoms of uncomplicated seasonal influenza, including fever, cough, pharyngitis, rhinorrhea, myalgia, and headache. Vomiting, diarrhea and conjunctivitis have also been reported in some cases. Milder illness is possible, including lack of fever. Duration of illness in most cases is approximately 3-5 days, but may be a week or more. As with seasonal flu, those at higher risk for flu-related complications may develop more serious illness.

# **2.** Collection of upper respiratory specimens is strongly advised for any influenza-like illness (e.g., outpatients, hospitalizations, deaths) among the following:

- Patients reporting direct or indirect swine exposure or attendance at an agricultural fair
- Patients reporting close contact (within 6 ft) to an ill person with recent swine exposure
- Children <18 years of age
- o Unusual or severe presentations of influenza-like illness, including hospitalizations
- o Outbreaks of influenza-like illness, especially among children

Please note the importance of specimen collection and testing at the State Laboratory as commercially available tests may not reliably detect variant influenza and cannot distinguish between seasonal human influenza viruses and swine variant viruses.

#### **3.** *Respiratory specimens should be collected as soon as possible after illness onset.*

Preferred respiratory specimens include: nasopharyngeal swab, nasal aspirate or wash or a combined nasopharyngeal swab with oropharyngeal swab. Nasal or oropharyngeal swabs are also acceptable but less preferred. If the patient is able to produce a sputum specimen, please collect in addition to the upper respiratory specimen(s) listed above.

 All specimens should be placed into sterile containers and immediately placed on refrigerant gel-packs at 4°C (refrigerator) for transport to the laboratory. For swabbed specimens, use sterile viral transport media.

#### 4. Specimens from suspect variant influenza cases should be submitted to MDHHS:

- Commercially available rapid influenza diagnostic tests (RIDTs) and molecular-based testing may not detect variant influenza virus in respiratory specimens. In addition, a positive test result for influenza A cannot confirm variant influenza virus infection because these tests cannot distinguish between influenza A virus subtypes (does not differentiate between human seasonal influenza A viruses and swine variant viruses).
- For information on how to collect and submit specimens to the MDHHS Bureau of Laboratories, including the required Test Requisition form, refer to: <u>http://www.michigan.gov/mdch/0,4612,7-132-2945\_5103-213906--,00.html</u>
- Contact the MDHHS Division of Communicable Disease at (517) 335-8165 to coordinate specimen submission to the state public health laboratory.

#### 5. The antiviral drug oseltamivir (Tamiflu) is effective in treating variant influenza infection.

Early initiation of antiviral treatment is most effective. Further information for clinicians regarding the treatment of variant influenza is available at: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/interim-guidance-variant-flu.htm</u>

#### 6. Infection Control

Healthcare personnel who treat ill persons with suspected swine variant influenza infections should follow standard, contact, and droplet precautions as recommended for patient care. More detailed infection control recommendations are available here: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/prevention-strategies.htm</u>

## How to Report Suspect Swine Variant Influenza Cases

#### Clinicians and Laboratorians:

To promptly report suspect cases and arrange testing, contact your local health department immediately (or contact MDHHS at (517) 335-8165 or after hours at (517) 335-9030).

#### Local Health Departments:

- Please report any confirmed, probable, or suspect variant influenza case to MDHHS at (517) 335-8165 and enter the case into MDSS using the "Novel Influenza" form. Complete the Case Details form.
- MDHHS will work with local health departments to complete CDC forms if cases are identified.
- Case definitions are available online at: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/case-definitions.htm</u>

Healthcare and public health providers should continue to report other influenza cases (seasonal, suspect novel influenza cases, pediatric deaths, facility outbreaks) as previously directed; guidance is available at: <a href="http://www.michigan.gov/cdinfo">www.michigan.gov/cdinfo</a> in the Communicable Diseases (A-Z) under Influenza.

For more information on swine variant influenza, please visit the CDC's website at: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/variant-flu-in-humans.htm</u>

Please contact the MDHHS Division of Communicable Disease at (517) 335-8165 with any questions.

This guidance should be considered interim and may change as situations warrant.

# Action Steps for Positive Pig

## Michigan Local Health Departments: Action Steps when a Pig Tests Positive for Influenza at the Fair

Michigan local health departments will typically be notified by MDHHS of a pig that tests positive for swine influenza at your county fair. If you are notified by another agency, please call MDHHS immediately at (517) 335-8165 and ask to speak directly to an Epidemiologist about swine influenza. If after hours/weekend, call the MDHHS On-Call staff at (517) 335-9030.

### The following are steps that local health departments should be prepared to take next:

- Share with Fair Manager the NASPHV/NASAHO publication "Minimizing Influenza Transmission during Exhibitions-Checklist for Protecting Guests, Exhibitors, and Pigs" (<u>http://www.nasphv.org/Documents/ProtectingGuestsExhibitorsAndPigsAtSwineExhibit</u> ions2018.pdf)
- Obtain contact information and establish a means of communication (cell phone, email, etc) with the Fair Veterinarian and Swine Superintendent/4-H/Future Farmers of America (FFA) Leader.

FAIR VETERINARIAN:		

SWINE SUPERINTENDENT:

□ Ask 4-H/FFA Adult Leaders to gather contact information for families/youth exhibiting swine to share with the health department. Establish means of regular communication (cell phone, email, etc).

4-H LEADER:\_\_\_\_\_

MSU EXTENSION STAFF: \_\_\_\_\_

- Provide a copy of the CDC "Key Facts for People Exhibiting Pigs at Fairs" to the 4-H Coordinator and the Swine Barn Superintendent. (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/fair\_exhibitor\_factsheet.pdf</u>)
- □ For families/youth exhibiting swine, develop health monitoring protocol. Work with your MDHHS Regional Epidemiologist to implement the survey and track responses.

- □ Immediately follow-up with any person reporting flu-like illness, including those reported via on-line survey, for case finding and testing as indicated.
- Provide <u>daily</u> reports to MDHHS on situational updates and survey responses through the MDSS Outbreak Management System (OMS). (<u>https://miloginworker.michigan.gov/uisecure/selfservice</u>)
- □ Finalize swine influenza fact sheets to distribute to youth and adults.
- □ Prepare message for group email to swine exhibitors that will include fact sheet and health monitoring information including link to questionnaire.
- □ Prepare to facilitate the collection of respiratory specimens from any animal exhibitors or fair visitors reporting influenza-like illness (ILI) within 10 days of exposure to ill swine.
- Develop press release in coordination with MDHHS to notify the public.
- Notify healthcare providers that swine influenza has been detected in pigs on exhibit.
  Request that providers ask patients presenting with ILI about exposure to swine.
  Provide information about how to collect and submit respiratory specimens to MDHHS for testing.
- Be prepared to work with the Michigan Department of Agriculture and Rural Development (MDARD) Animal Industry Division staff, Fair Veterinarian, and Fair Officials responsible for quarantining ill and exposed swine, to provide guidance about protecting people caring for quarantined animals.
  - Persons at high risk for influenza complications should avoid exposure to swine.
  - If exposure to swine cannot be avoided, consider wearing appropriate personal protective equipment (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/prevent-spread-flu-pigs-at-fairs.pdf</u>).
- Prepare informational letter to transporter and/or processing plant receiving live, exposed pigs at the conclusion of the fair. (See "Swine Variant Influenza Tool Kit Templates" Word Document)
- □ After the outbreak, organize a meeting with animal health, public health, exhibition organizers, and youth 4-H/FFA leaders to discuss challenges and lessons learned.

This guidance should be considered interim and may change as situations warrant

## Action Steps for Positive or Presumptive Positive Human

## Michigan Local Health Departments: Action Steps when a Person Tests Positive or Presumptive Positive for a Swine-Variant Influenza Virus

#### **Public Health Notifications**

- Immediately call the Michigan Department of Health and Human Services (MDHHS) Communicable Disease Division at (517) 335-8165 and ask to speak directly with an Epidemiologist about swine influenza. If after hours/weekend, contact the MDHHS On-Call staff at (517) 335-9030.
- □ If associated with a local fair or swine exhibition in Michigan, notify the local health department where the event is/was located

#### **Case Investigation and Reporting Forms**

- Promptly enter information on confirmed, probable or suspect variant influenza cases into MDSS using the "Novel Influenza" form.
- □ If recent contact with swine or recent attendance at event with animals present, gather information about date(s) of contact and details/location of event.
- □ Complete CDC Novel Influenza Case Report Form as provided by MDHHS.

#### **Contact Tracing**

Conduct contact tracing of suspected and confirmed variant influenza cases to identify additional illnesses and collect information on the epidemiology of the virus. Contact tracing is essential to evaluate virus transmission patterns and potential person-to-person transmission.

If fair or event-associated:

 Obtain contact information and work with Fair/Exhibit Organizers and 4-H/Future Farmers of America (FFA) Adult Leaders to identify names and contact information of all swine exhibitors and others exposed to swine. Establish means of regular communication.

FAIR MANAGER:
SWINE SUPERINTENDENT:
4-H LEADER:
MSU EXTENSION STAFF:

 Develop health monitoring survey and protocol to collect information on illness status of swine exhibitors and household members. Work with your MDHHS Regional Epidemiologist to implement the survey and track responses.

- □ Immediately follow-up with any person reporting influenza-like illness, including those reported via on-line survey, for case finding and testing as indicated.
- Provide <u>daily</u> reports to MDHHS regarding any situational updates, as well as information on survey responses and status updates on ill individuals through the MDSS Outbreak Management System (OMS).

### Influenza Testing Plan

It is very important that respiratory specimens be collected from any individual exhibiting symptoms. Prepare to facilitate testing of exposed and epi-linked persons reporting influenza-like illness (ILI) directly through the health department, through a standing order at a local laboratory, or through physicians/urgent care/local emergency department.

- □ Arrange for respiratory specimens to be collected as quickly as possible from:
  - All persons with ILI and acute respiratory infection who have had recent contact (within 10 days prior to illness onset) with swine or recent attendance at an agricultural event where swine are present.
  - All ill household members and persons reporting close contact (within 6 ft) to a person with suspected/confirmed variant influenza infection or to an ill person with recent swine exposure.
- □ Preferred specimens include a nasopharyngeal swab or aspirate, or a combined nasopharyngeal and oropharyngeal swab. If possible, collect sputum in addition.
- Arrange for specimens to be submitted to MDHHS Bureau of Laboratories (BOL) for PCR testing. Commercially available tests may not reliably detect variant influenza virus and cannot distinguish between seasonal human influenza viruses and swine variant viruses.

## Infection Control Measures

Provide information and instructions on infection control steps for ill and non-ill persons and for healthcare personnel

- □ Advise healthcare personnel who treat ill persons with suspected swine variant influenza infection to follow standard, contact, and droplet precautions as recommended for patient care.
- Ill persons with suspected or confirmed variant virus infections who do not require hospitalization should be isolated at home away from other family members as much as possible. Household members who are at increased risk for influenza complications should avoid coming within 6 feet of ill persons.
- □ Persons at high risk for influenza complications should avoid exposure to swine. If exposure to swine cannot be avoided, consider wearing appropriate personal protective equipment (<u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/prevent-spread-flu-pigs-at-fairs.pdf</u>).

### **Public Messaging**

- Develop press release in coordination with MDHHS Communications Office/Public Information Officer (PIO) to notify persons who attended the same event and had exposure to swine.
- Notify healthcare providers that a human case of variant influenza has been detected. Providers should look for cases of ILI and ask about exposure to swine. Provide information about how to collect and submit respiratory specimens to MDHHS for testing.

*This guidance should be considered interim and may change as situations warrant.* 

# **KEY FACTS** for People Exhibiting Pigs at Fairs

## Who is at high risk of serious illness from variant virus infections?

- People who are at high risk for serious complications (http://www.cdc.gov/flu/ about/disease/high\_risk. htm) from flu, including variant flu viruses like H3N2v, include children younger than 5 years, people with certain long-term health conditions like asthma and other lung diseases, diabetes, heart disease, weakened immune systems, neurological or neurodevelopmental conditions, as well as pregnant women and people 65 years and older.
- Most of the people hospitalized because of variant virus infections have had one of these factors that put them at high risk.



## Background

Pigs may be infected with swine influenza viruses that are different from human flu viruses. Swine flu viruses spread among pigs and – while rare – they can spread from pigs to people too. When that happens, these viruses are called variant viruses and are designated with the letter "v" after the virus subtype. Human infections with H1N1v, H3N2v and H1N2v viruses have been detected in the United States.

Spread of swine flu viruses from a pig to a person is thought to happen in the same way that human flu viruses spread; mainly through droplets when infected pigs cough or sneeze. This has happened in different settings, especially at fairs where pigs from many places come in close contact with each other and with people.

Exposure to pigs, especially close contact with pigs, is the main risk factor for infection with variant influenza viruses. While most illness with these viruses has been mild, serious illness, including illness resulting in hospitalization, has happened. To protect those most likely to get infected and develop serious illness, CDC and 4-H National Headquarters recommend exhibitors (and their friends or family) take the following actions to help prevent the spread of flu between pigs and people.

## Recommendations for Fair Exhibitors with High Risk Factors:

- Anyone at high risk of serious flu complications planning to attend a fair where pigs will be present should avoid pigs and swine barns at the fair.
- This includes pig exhibitors and family members with high risk factors.
- This may mean that exhibitors with one or more high risk factors do not show their pig(s) this year.

National Center for Immunization and Respiratory Diseases Influenza Division



## **Recommendations for Fair Exhibitors Not at High Risk:**

- If you are responsible for the care of pigs, watch them for illness (like loss of appetite, cough or runny nose). Call a veterinarian if you suspect illness.
- Avoid close contact with pigs that look or act ill and notify the fair veterinarian and/or the fair manager that your pig may be ill.
- Take protective measures if you must come in contact with pigs that are known or suspected to be sick. This includes wearing protective clothing, gloves and masks that cover your mouth and nose. (This is called "personal protective equipment" or PPE.)
- To further reduce the risk of infection, minimize contact with pigs in the pig barn and arenas.

## As always, take the following preventive actions:

- Don't eat or drink or put anything in your mouth in the pig barn and show arena.
- Don't take toys, pacifiers, cups, bottles, strollers, or similar items into the pig barn and show arenas.
- Wash your hands often with soap and running water before and after exposure to pigs. If soap and water are not available, use an alcohol-based hand rub.
- If you are sick with flu-like illness, stay home to avoid spreading your illness.

## What to do if you get sick:

- Flu symptoms usually include fever, cough, sore throat, runny or stuffy nose, muscle or body aches, headaches, fatigue, and sometimes vomiting or diarrhea.
- If you are at high risk and you get flu symptoms, call a health care provider. Tell them about your high risk factor and your symptoms. If you have had recent exposure to pigs, tell them about that too.
- If you are not at high risk and you get flu symptoms after exposure to pigs, seek medical care as you normally would.
- A health care provider can decide whether influenza testing or treatment is needed.
- Influenza antiviral drugs can treat variant virus infections as well as seasonal flu illness in people.
- These drugs work better the sooner you start them, so seek medical treatment promptly if you get symptoms and are at high risk.

## For more information:

Telephone: 1-800-CDC-INFO (232-4636)/TTY: 1-888-232-6348 Contact CDC Info: <u>http://www.cdc.gov/cdc-info/requestform.html</u> Information on Influenza A (H3N2) Variant Viruses ("H3N2v") <u>http://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/h3n2v-cases.htm</u>



**08.11.2016** PAGE 20

# Additional Swine Variant Influenza Resources

## **MDHHS Resources**

Novel Influenza A Case Report Form: https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mdhhs/CDC Novel Flu CRF July 2018 627740 7.pdf

Swine Exhibitor Survey Template: https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mdhhs/Swine Flu Survey Template 627786 7.doc

Swine Influenza Talking Points: https://www.michigan.gov/documents/mdhhs/Swine\_Flu\_Template\_-\_Talking\_Points\_627583\_7.docx

Variant Influenza Tracking Tool in OMS:

MILogin: https://miloginworker.michigan.gov/

## **CDC Resources**

Reported Infections with Variant Influenza in the United States: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/variant-cases-us.htm#table-infections</u>

Interim Guidance for Clinicians on Human Infections with Variant Influenza Viruses: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/clinician-guidance-variant-flu-human-infections.pdf">https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/clinician-guidance-variant-flu-human-infections.pdf</a>

Key Facts for People Exhibiting Pigs at Fairs: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/swineflu/exhibit-pigs-at-fairs.htm</u>

Take Action to Prevent the Spread of Flu Between Pigs and People: <u>https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/prevent-spread-flu-pigs-at-fairs.pdf</u>

What People Who Raise Pigs Need to Know about Influenza: <a href="https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/pork-producer-fact-sheet.pdf">https://www.cdc.gov/flu/pdf/swineflu/pork-producer-fact-sheet.pdf</a>



## **Other Resources**

Influenza in Workers and Pigs: Guidance for Commercial Swine Farmers and Pork Producers: <u>https://www.osha.gov/Publications/influenza-workers-pigs-factsheet.pdf</u>



